FILED SED J. WHITE

OCT 29 1993

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURE

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

Appellant,
vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee,

Appeal No. 82, 188 (Circ. Case Nos. 77-708 and 72,695)

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

STEPHEN D. ALEXANDER ANTHONY G. GRAHAM FRIED, FRANK, HARRIS SHRIVER & JACOBSON 725 South Figueroa St. Suite 3890 Los Angeles, CA 90017 (213) 689-5800

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant Walter Gale Steinhorst (hereinafter "Steinhorst" or "Appellant") respectfully appeals to this Court from the Order of Fourteenth Judicial Circuit Court Judge, the Honorable Don T. Sirmons, entered on April 9, 1993, and the Order on Rehearing entered on July 8, 1993 (collectively, "the Orders"). The Orders denied Appellant's Motion for Relief From Judgment pursuant to Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.540(b)(4), which sought to set aside the judgment (the "Judgment") entered by Judge W. Fred Turner in June 1988 which denied Mr. Steinhorst's Motion to Vacate Conviction and Sentence filed pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

For purposes of this appeal, the history of this case is summarized as follows:

° On November 30, 1977, Walter Steinhorst, David Goodwin and Charlie Hughes were indicted by the Panama City Grand Jury for the first degree murders of Douglas Hood, Sheila McAdams and Sandra McAdams. Walter Steinhorst was also indicted for the premeditated first degree murder of Harold Sims. The three defendants' cases were severed.

On April 24, 1978 Mr. Steinhorst's trial commenced in the Circuit Court in and for Bay County, Panama City (the "Circuit Court") before then Florida Supreme Court Justice James C. Adkins, who was sitting by special designation. The

jury convicted Mr. Steinhorst of first degree murder on all four counts. It was not stated whether the verdicts were based on a finding of felony or premeditated murder. Following a jury recommendation, Mr. Steinhorst was sentenced to death on three of the four counts, and received a sentence of life imprisonment for the murder of Harold Sims. 1/

- Rehearing was denied on April 27, 1982.
- ° On January 18, 1984, appellant filed a habeas corpus petition in this court, setting forth five claims for relief. On September 26, 1985, this Court denied the petition. Steinhorst v. Wainwright, 477 So.2d 537 (Fla. 1985). Rehearing was denied on November 19, 1985.
- ° On February 13, 1986, appellant filed a Motion for Post-Conviction Relief, pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850, in the Circuit Court. The motion was heard by Circuit Court Judge W. Fred Turner. Judge Turner denied the motion in a one page order, and without his ever having seen, let alone read, the trial record or any briefs, and without holding any evidentiary hearing, on March 24, 1986.
- ° Mr. Steinhorst and his attorneys received no notice of the denial of his 3.850 motion. His attorneys first learned of the decisions by reading a press release that the Governor of Florida had issued a warrant for Mr. Steinhorst's execution, on November 6, 1986.

Justice Adkins also presided, several weeks later, over the separate trial of co-defendant David Goodwin. The other co-defendant, Charlie Hughes, was a fugitive from justice until 1981.

- ° On November 14, 1986, Mr. Steinhorst requested a stay of execution and moved the Circuit Court to vacate its order of March 24, 1986.
- ° On November 20, 1986, Judge Turner granted Mr. Steinhorst's request to vacate the March 24, 1986 order, but again summarily denied the Rule 3.850 motion and denied the request for a stay of execution.
- ° On November 21, 1986, Mr. Steinhorst appealed the denial of the Rule 3.850 motion to this Court and requested a stay of execution.
- ° On November 26, 1986, this Court granted petitioner's request for a stay of execution, vacated the Circuit Court's order, and remanded the case for further proceedings. Steinhorst v. Florida, 498 So.2d 414 (Fla. 1986). 2/
- An evidentiary hearing on Mr. Steinhorst's Rule 3.850 motion was conducted in the Circuit Court on September 16-18, 1987.

In so holding, the Florida supreme Court observed that Judge Turner had not even bothered to "examine the trial record and did not have the record before him when ruling on appellant's ... motion," in violation of Rule 3.850. Steinhorst v. State, 498 So. 2d 414, 415 (Fla. 1986). Consequently, Judge Turner also violated Rule 3.850 by failing to attach portions of the record conclusively showing that Mr. Steinhorst was entitled to no relief.

- $^{\circ}$ Judge Turner entered an order denying the Rule 3.850 motion on June 23, 1988. $^{\underline{3}/}$
- ° On July 5, 1988, Mr. Steinhorst filed a notice of appeal of the Circuit Court's denial of his Rule 3.850 motion.
- ° On January 15, 1991, this Court affirmed the Circuit Court's denial of relief. Steinhorst v. State, 574
 So.2d 1075 (Fla. 1991). Justices Kogan and Barkett dissented on the grounds that there was <u>Hitchcock</u> error at the penalty phases:

The record before us discloses substantial mitigating evidence improperly excluded from Steinhorst's trial as a direct result of this Court's erroneous ruling in <u>Cooper</u>...For these reasons, I believe there is no question that the federal courts under their own precedent must grant relief if this Court fails to do so. No good reason exists to delay such relief any longer.

- ° On March 6, 1991, this Court denied appellant's motion for rehearing.
- ° On October 4, 1991, Mr. Steinhorst filed in the Circuit Court a Motion for Relief from Judgment pursuant to

^{3/} In the course of reviewing materials for the record on appeal with the Assistant State Attorney, defendant's counsel learned that yet again Judge Turner had failed to read the trial record. The deputy clerk of the trial court informed defendant's counsel that the clerk's office did not have the transcript of Mr. Steinhorst's original trial because the trial court had never received that transcript back from the Supreme Court and it had no copy. Judge Turner confirmed this omission in his sua sponte order dated August 3, 1988 by acknowledging that "the original trial transcript ... is lodged in the Supreme Court of Florida." See, 3.850 ROA, 799. Appellant will cite to the Record on Appeal in the Rule 3.850 proceedings as "3.850 ROA" and to the record on appeal in the instant appeal as "MRJ ROA."

Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.540(b)(4), seeking to have Judge Turner's judgment on the Rule 3.850 motion declared null and void due to the judge's undisclosed conflict of interest.

This matter was originally assigned to Judge N.

Russell Bower. Judge Bower indicated that he would recuse himself from this cause in order to avoid any appearance of impropriety, as he had previously worked at the State Attorney's office. On December 4, 1992, Judge Bower entered an Order Recusing himself, and the matter was reassigned to Chief Judge Don T. Sirmons on December 7, 1992.

On February 12, 1993, after a telephone status conference call with counsel, the court entered an Order of Procedure directing as follows:

- (1) That the State of Florida has thirty (30) days from the date hereof to respond to defendant's Motion for Relief From Judgment and <u>Defendant</u> shall likewise have thirty (30) days from service of the State's response to respond.
- (2) Thereafter, the court will consider the written response; schedule a supplemental status conference; and set out any additional procedures it deems necessary to depose of the pending motion.

MRJ ROA, 44, Order, dated February 12, 1993 (emphasis added).

On March 15, 1993, the State filed its response, which was termed a "Motion to Dismiss and Response to Motion for Relief From Judgment," Mr. Steinhorst's Reply was therefore due on April 14, 1993.

° On April 12, 1993, however, without holding any hearing and without giving Mr. Steinhorst an opportunity to

respond to the State's motion to dismiss, Circuit Judge Don T. Sirmons denied the Rule 1.540 motion.

- ° On April 24, 1993, Mr. Steinhorst timely filed a motion for rehearing.
- ° On July 8, 1993, the Circuit Court granted the motion for rehearing but again denied the Rule 1.540 motion.
- ° On August 2, 1993, Mr. Steinhorst timely filed his notice of appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The court erred in holding that Rule 1.540 is not the appropriate procedure for reopening the judgment. A 3.850 motion is, by its very terms, a motion to set aside the conviction and sentence and thus, contrary to the court's order, not the appropriate vehicle for challenging a 3.508 judgment. The Rule and case law make clear that Rule 1.540 is the correct vehicle. Further, the court erred in not finding the 3.850 judgment void since Judge Turner had a clear conflict of interest and a judgment entered by a judge with a disqualifying interest is void and has no effect at all. The judgment is also void since it failed to comply with fundamental principles of due process, since Judge Turner's conflict violated Mr. Steinhorst's right to an impartial tribunal. The court also erred in finding the 1.540 motion time barred since the motion was filed within a "reasonable time" of the discovery of Judge Turner's conflict. Finally, the court erred in finding that Mr. Steinhart needed to show

prejudice as a result of that conflict, since the mere fact of the conflict disqualifies a judge, and also in ignoring the undisputed evidence that Justice Adkins, had he heard the 3.850, would have imposed life sentences. Appellant requests relief from these errors. Because of the complexity and importance of the matters at issue in this appeal, appellant also respectfully requests a hearing on oral argument as to this appeal. See, attached Request.

ARGUMENT

THE COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT RULE 1.540 IS NOT
THE APPROPRIATE PROCEDURE FOR REOPENING THE JUDGMENT.

Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.540(b) provides, in pertinent part,

On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, decree, order or proceeding for the following reasons: ... (4) the judgment or decree is void... The motion shall be made within a reasonable time, and for reasons (1), (2), and (3) not more than one year after the judgment, decree, order or proceeding was entered or taken. ... Writs of coram nobis, coram vobis, audita querela and bills of review and bills in the nature of a bill of review are abolished and the procedure for obtaining any relief from a judgment or decree shall be by motion as prescribed in these rules or by an independent action.

Appellant's motion sought relief under Rule

1.540(b)(4), and was not a successor motion under Florida Rule

of Criminal Procedure 3.850. A 3.850 motion, by its very

terms, is a motion to set aside the conviction and sentence. Here, Mr. Steinhorst was not attempting to set aside his conviction and sentence but rather, to set aside the 3.850 judgment entered by Judge Turner. Thus, contrary to the Court's Order a 3.850 motion would not be the appropriate vehicle for challenging that 3.850 judgment.

Both the Court and the State Attorney misinterpreted the Rule 1.540 motion. Mr. Steinhorst fully agrees that Rule 1.540 is not the appropriate vehicle for moving to vacate a conviction and sentence. But, as stated at the outset in his Rule 1.540 motion, Mr. Steinhorst was not seeking to vacate the conviction and sentence in this proceeding. Nor was the Rule 1.540 Motion an attempt to relitigate the issues raised by the Rule 3.850 motion. Rather, the motion is intended to vacate a void judgment.

As the rule states and case law makes clear, Rule 1.540 is the correct vehicle to set aside a judgment. See, e.g., Department of Transportation vs. Bailey, 603 So.2d 1384 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) (holding that Rule 1.540 is the correct mechanism to attack a void judgment and analogizing to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure ("FRCP") 60(b)). As discussed therein, Rule 1.540(b) was modeled after FRCP 60(b), and Rule 60(b) is the appropriate vehicle to move to vacate a federal habeas determination. Id.; See also Gray vs. Estelle 574 F.2d 209

(5th Cir. 1978) (citing <u>Pitchess vs. Davis</u>, 421 U.S. 482 (1975)). $\frac{4}{}$

Bailey also makes clear that when it is asserted that the underlying judgment is void, the reviewing court must evaluate the underlying judgment in reviewing the order denying the motion. The Bailey court held as follows:

Ordinarily, review of a trial court's denial of a 1.540(b) (or Federal Rule 60(b) motion) is limited to determining whether the denial amounts to an abuse of discretion. Where, however, it is asserted that the underlying judgment (or part thereof, as in the instant case) is void, it is necessary to evaluate the underlying judgment in reviewing the order denying the motion. VTA Inc. v. Airco Inc., 597 F.2d 220 (10th Cir. 1979).

Id. at 1386. The Bailey court also held that if it is determined that the judgment entered is void, "the trial court has no discretion, but is obligated to vacate the judgment."
Id. at 1387. In Airco, cited with approval in Bailey, the court held that the reviewing court must determine whether the

Although Rule 3.850 is a rule of criminal procedure, proceedings under the rule are not steps in the criminal prosecution but are in the nature of independent, collateral civil actions; State v. White, 470 So. 2d 1377 (Fla. 1985) (the "post-conviction collateral remedies [such as those provided by rule 3.850 and writs of error coram nobis and habeas corpus] are not steps in a criminal prosecution but are in the nature of independent collateral civil actions"); State v. Lasley, 507 So. 2d 711 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987) ("Like a habeas corpus proceeding an action under rule 3.850 is considered civil in nature and collateral to the criminal prosecution which resulted in the judgment of conviction, notwithstanding the inclusion of rule 3.850 within the criminal rules); Tolar v. State, 196 So. 2d 1, 3 (Fla. 4th DCA 1967). Thus, the proceedings are governed by the rules of civil procedure, except where those rules are inconsistent with the specific provisions of Rule 3.850. Green v. State, 280 So. 2d 701, 702 (Fla, 5th DCA 1973).

court rendering the judgment was without jurisdiction and whether that court acted in a manner inconsistent with the due process of law. See Airco, 597 F.2d 220, 225.

Where there is no existing rule of criminal procedure that fits the particular situation sought to be remedied, as in this case, a litigant must resort to the existing rules of civil procedure. See Luhra v. State, 394 So. 2d 137, 139 n.1 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981) (citing Boggs v. Wainwright, 223 So. 2d 316, 317 (Fla. 1969) for the proposition that a court may adopt a civil rule -- Rule 1.540(a) concerning correction of clerical errors -- for use in a criminal case when no comparable criminal rule exists). See also Tolar v. State, 196 So. 2d at 4 ("Rule 1 [now Rule 3.850], like [28 USC] § 2255, is not all comprehensive or exclusive of relief otherwise available by motion under the classical writs or under Rule 1.38 (now rule 1.540) of the Rules of Civil Procedure.").

Rule 3.850 was patterned after the federal post-conviction statute, 28 U.S.C. § 2255, and cases decided under the federal statute serve as a guide to the proper application and interpretation of the Florida rule where there is no Florida precedent. Roy v. Wainwright, 151 So. 2d 825, 828 (Fla. 1963); Tolar v. State, 196 So. 2d at 3. When a petitioner seeks to set aside a federal habeas determination, the avenue for doing so is Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 60, which is the federal counterpart to Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.540. See, e.g., Gray v. Estelle, 574 F.2d 209 (5th Cir. 1978) (citing Pitchess v. Davis, 421 U.S. 482 (1975)). In fact, it is clear from the face of Rule 1.540 that it was modeled after

Fed. Rule Civ. P. 60 . <u>See DeClaire v. Yohanan</u>, 453 So. 2d 375, 377 (Fla. 1984).

Hence, it is incontrovertible that Rule 1.540 is the appropriate vehicle for attacking a 3.850 judgment that was entered by a judge who was subject to an unrevealed conflict of interest. See, Aetna Life & Casualty Co. v. Thorn, 319 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1975). In Aetna, the appellant moved to set aside the final judgment after learning that the judge had an undisclosed conflict. Aetna did not learn of the conflict until after entry of final judgment. The court there noted that "[a] judge occupies such a particular position in the affairs of other men that not only must he be free of evil intent but he must also avoid the appearance of evil." Id., at 84. The court also noted that § 38.02, Fla. Stat. is not the exclusive remedy for the disqualification of a judge, because that statute by its terms applies only to those cases in which a final judgment has not been entered. Id. The court then reversed the order denying appellant's 1.540 motion and remanded the case to the trial court with directions to proceed to a hearing upon that motion. Id., at 85.

It is therefore apparent that the Court erred in finding that Rule 1.540 is not the appropriate vehicle for moving to set aside Judge Turner's Order.

THE COURT ERRED IN NOT FINDING THE 3.850 JUDGMENT VOID AS A RESULT OF JUDGE TURNER'S BLATANT UNDISCLOSED CONFLICT OF INTEREST

I. JUDGE TURNER HAD A CLEAR CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The Court erred both in failing to accept that

Judge Turner's denial of the Rule 3.850 motion was void because
he had a disqualifying interest due to his involvement with the
victim's estate (which was a violation of Canon 3C of the

Florida Code of Judicial Conduct), and in holding that § 38.01

Florida Statutes, was in any way implicated in this matter.

The Court concluded, without any consideration of Mr.

Steinhorst's arguments, as follows:

The Court also finds that should Rule 1.540 be a valid ground to seek collateral attack, the judgment is not void because the Defendant's claim is barred by time, and is based upon the imagined bias of Judge W. Fred Turner without any showing under F.S. 38.01 (sic), that Judge Turner appeared as a party of record in this case.

See, MRJ ROA 67-68, 109. Although the Court acknowledged that Judge Turner recused himself in Hughes' cases in June 1981, the Court ignored the significance of that fact. Quite simply, the Court ignored the facts and binding legal authority to reach a decision unclouded by legal argument, evidentiary support or common sense.

In the relatively recent course of investigation of this case, attorneys for Mr. Steinhorst discovered that Judge Turner had a serious conflict of interest which compelled him to recuse himself from considering the 3.850 motion. Judge Turner had represented the estate of Harold Sims, one of the victims in this case, had had previous contact with the Sims'

family and on the basis of that representation had <u>sua sponte</u> advised counsel for co-defendant Charlie Hughes that he would recuse himself, upon request, from presiding over Mr. Hughes' trial. <u>See</u>, MRJ ROA 28, Order dated July 9, 1981. Hughes, who was a fugitive from justice until 1981, was indicted on the same charges as Walter Steinhorst and tried soon after his capture. As a result of Judge Turner's disclosure, the Hughes trial was promptly reassigned to another judge. <u>See</u>, MRJ ROA 29, Order of Consolidation and Reassignment, dated July 15, 1981.

Despite the fact that he had previously advised Hughes' counsel of and signed an order recognizing his "conflict of interest," Judge Turner failed to inform Mr. Steinhorst's counsel of this blatant conflict when counsel appeared before him in 1986 to prosecute defendant's 3.850 motion. 5/ The State Attorney's office, which was also aware of this conflict as a result of having prosecuted Mr. Hughes, similarly failed to inform Mr. Steinhorst's counsel of this matter. 6/

Section 38.01, Florida Statutes, automatically disqualifies the judge who is a party in an action from sitting

^{5/} Nor did Judge Turner advise counsel of this conflict at any time during the more than two year time frame in which he dealt with Mr. Steinhorst's 3.850 motion.

^{6/} State Attorney James Appleman's office both prosecuted Charlie Hughes in 1981 and opposed Mr. Steinhorst's 3.850 motion in 1986-87. Current counsel for Mr. Steinhorst, who are out-of-state pro bono counsel, did not become involved in the Steinhorst case until 1983.

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