FILED SID J. WHITE
	DEC 10 1993
	CLERK, SUPREME COURT
)A	Chief Deputy Clerk

TTT TT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WALTER GALE STEINHORST,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 82,188

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL COUNTY, IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0239161

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in denying the Appellant's motion for relief from judgment.

The motion itself was untimely, given the Appellant's failure to request relief within one year of the entry of the judgment. Florida caselaw clearly provides that this one-year period is not tolled by any appeal from the challenged final order, and that the correct procedure is to request an appellate relinquishment of jurisdiction during the one-year period.

It is evident from the record that the Appellant did not exercise due diligence in reviewing documents which were a matter of public record for over a decade. Thus, the "evidence" relied upon was not "newly discovered."

Finally, Judge Turner's order, while possibly "voidable", was not "void." Judge Turner's recusal was not mandatory under the facts of this case. Justice Adkins' alleged change of heart regarding the sentence given to Steinhorst does not combine with any other factor to compel Rule 1.540 relief.

- 3 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUES I AND III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS PROCEDURAL RULINGS REGARDING THE DENIAL OF RULE 1.540 RELIEF

The Appellant, Mr. Steinhorst, moved for reconsideration of his motion for post-conviction relief under the ostensible authority of Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.540(b)(4). As we will demonstrate, the motion was procedurally barred as well as being devoid of merit. Since the procedural posture of Mr. Steinhorst's motion dictated the result <u>sub judice</u>, it shall be addressed at the outset.

The lower court unequivocally held:

"The Court also finds that should Rule 1.540 be a valid ground to seek collateral attack, the judgment <u>is not void because the</u> <u>Defendant's claim is barred by time</u>, and is based upon Defendant's imagined bias of Judge Fred W. Turner without any showing under F.S. 38.01 that Judge Fred W. Turner appeared as a party of record in this case" (R 109) (emphasis added).

This singular finding is sufficient to defeat Mr. Steinhorst's appeal.

Actions filed under the auspices of Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.540(b) must be initiated within one year of the judgment. In this case, the filing deadline was June 23, 1989. Steinhorst, however, did not bring this action until October, 1991, over two years after the deadline.

Apparently, Mr. Steinhorst mistakenly believed that the direct appeal from the order denying Rule 3.850 relief tolled the time for bringing the Rule 1.540 motion. The law is well settled, however, that the time for filing is not extended by the

- 4 -

existence of an appeal. <u>Seven-Up Bottling Co. of Miami v. George</u> <u>Construction Co.</u>, 153 So.2d 11 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1963); <u>Marco</u> <u>Technology Corp. v. Reynolds</u>, 520 So.2d 63 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); <u>Legler v. Kwitny, Kroop and Scheinberg P.A.</u>, 520 So.2d 95 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); <u>Glatstein v. Miami</u>, 391 So.2d 297 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980). In this regard, we would specifically note an on-point finding in <u>Paulino v. Hardister</u>, 306 So.2d 125, 130 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1975) by [then] Judge Grimes; to wit:

> "We are left with having to decide to what extent, if any, these rules should apply in the instant case. Even if the response to Appellee's motion for contempt be the construed as a motion for relief under Rule 1.540(b)(1), these motions would be untimely because of not being made within a year of the entry of the final judgment. The pending appeal from the judgment would not toll the for making the motion." time (emphasis added).

It is apparent from the caselaw that Mr. Steinhorst should, within one year of the judgment, have filed a motion in the Florida Supreme Court seeking the relinquishment of jurisdiction to the trial court. Then, a Rule 1.540 motion should have been filed. <u>Pruitt v. Brock</u>, 437 So.2d 768 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). This was not done, and Steinhorst's excuse is that his investigators and attorneys erred in not finding Judge Turner's order. Such unilateral error does not provide an excuse.

(A) Unilateral Error

It is undisputed that Judge Turner entered a disqualification order in 1981, and that this order had been a matter of public record for a decade when allegedly "discovered" by Steinhorst's counsel.

- 5 -

Even if we accept Steinhorst's allegation of error (i.e., his attorneys never noticed the order in prior examinations of the Hughes file), it is equally beyond dispute that the order was in the file, was a matter of public record, and was fully available to Steinhorst at all times. Thus, the failure to spot the order constituted unilateral error, and the filing deadline established by Rule 1.540 cannot be extended due to unilateral error. Crescent, Inc. v. Schwartz, 382 So.2d 383 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980); Gregory v. Connor, 591 So.2d 974 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); Skinner v. Skinner, 579 So.2d 358 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). Indeed. in Pingree v. Quaintance, 394 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), a "new evidence" argument was specifically rejected when the socalled evidence was available (if not possessed) by the moving party but was allegedly "undiscovered."

A critical feature of Mr. Steinhorst's argument is the timing of his discovery. The Appellant's affidavits show that, for reasons unknown, counsel waited until seven months <u>after</u> the decision in <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 574 So.2d 1075 (Fla. 1991) to suddenly begin reexamining available files. This belated investigation is most curious, since Steinhorst had no right to file any successive Rule 3.850 petition. <u>Bundy v. State</u>, 538 So.2d 445 (Fla. 1989) (no successive petition allowed on basis of evidence that was always available); <u>Francis v. Barton</u>, 581 So.2d 583 (Fla. 1991) (improper to reargue issues in a successive Rule 3.850 petition on the basis of available evidence.)

An analogy can be drawn between Steinhorst's conduct and that of the petitioners in <u>Demps v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 196 (Fla. 1987) and Agan v. State, 560 So.2d 222 (Fla. 1990). In those

- 6 -

cases, the petitioners attempted to justify improper Rule 3.850 petitions on the basis of "newly discovered evidence" uncovered following the filing of public record demands under Chapter 119, Fla. Stat.. Since Chapter 119 had previously been available to Demps and to Agan, but had not been used, this Court rejected the claims of "newly discovered evidence." Here, rather than Chapter 119, we simply have a curious decision to conduct a postappellate survey of a co-defendant's files. Assuming there was a reason for this search, it is logical to assume it was a search for novel issues to support some new collateral attack. No matter the reason, the evidence allegedly discovered in October of 1991 was not "newly discovered" (due to its availability and Steinhorst's lack of due diligence)¹ and cannot (could not) support a motion filed pursuant to Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.540. Bothwell v. State, 450 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984); Winter Haven v. Tuttle/White Constructors, 370 So.2d 829 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); Smiles v. Young, 271 So.2d 798 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1973).

(B) Successive Petition

This brings us to the second procedural ruling by the lower court. The court held that a motion for relief from judgment filed pursuant to Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.540 cannot be used as a basis for a successive collateral attack upon a judgment and sentence. Mr. Steinhorst agrees with this statement of law, but insists that the Rule 1.540 motion at bar was <u>not intended</u> to serve as a

¹ See also <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1991), "new evidence" does <u>not</u> include evidence that could have been discovered by due diligence.

successive petition, thus rendering that portion of the lower court's procedural ruling erroneous.²

If Steinhorst's motion merely argued the issue of Judge Turner's recusal his appellate position would be stronger. Unfortunately for Steinhorst, his petition also raised some novel claim regarding Judge Adkins, "new factors", and an alleged "change of heart" regarding Steinhorst's sentence by the original sentencer. This novel claim clearly did not fall within Rule 1.540 (mistake, inadvertence, fraud or excusable neglect). In fact, it was simply a novel Rule 3.850 claim inserted into a motion for rehearing. Motions under Rule 1.540 cannot be used for that purpose. Homes v. Division of Fiber Crete Administration, Fla. D.O.T., 315 So.2d 492 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982); In re Estate of Beeman, 391 So.2d 276 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980). As such, the claim was properly denied.

ISSUE II

THE APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF ON THE ISSUE OF ALLEGED "JUDICIAL BIAS"

The Appellant's motion for rehearing was properly denied on procedural grounds and, accordingly, the trial court should be affirmed on that basis. <u>Ylst v. Nunnemaker</u>, 501 U.S. ____, 115 L.Ed.2d 706 (1991); <u>Harris v. Reed</u>, 489 U.S. 255 (1989). Since Appellant cannot overcome his procedural problem, he relies upon

- 8 -

Mr. Steinhorst's position regarding "intent" is supported by the fact that, arguably, a second Rule 3.850 petition could have been filed on the basis of "newly discovered evidence" per <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1991), <u>if</u> the evidence qualified. By not relying upon <u>Jones</u>, Steinhorst tacitly concedes that the order of recusal is not "newly discovered evidence". Unfortunately, this fact supports the denial of his Rule 1.540 motion as having been untimely.

a strident claim of "blatant" judicial bias, mandatory recusal and, finally, a contention that the order denying Rule 3.850 relief was (is) "void." None of these contentions have merit.

(A) No Basis For Disqualification Exists In This Record

The case at bar is unique in that the Appellant never filed any motion for the disqualification of Judge Turner while said judge was involved in the case. Indeed, the claim of not only "bias", but <u>blatant</u> bias, only surfaced after the alleged discovery of the order (of disqualification) in the Hughes file, seven months after the prior appeal in this case.

If Steinhorst had discovered (and elected to use) the disqualification order while the Rule 3.850 proceeding was pending it is quite obvious that the motion would have been subject to denial as facially deficient.

Starting with the facts, the Appellant offers nothing more than the following:

(1) Judge Turner, as an attorney, filed probate papers for the Sims estate.

(2) In 1981, Judge Turner disqualified himself in the Hughes case on motion by the defense.

It is well settled that a party seeking disqualification of a judge carries the burden of establishing facts supporting some well reasoned fear of judicial bias. <u>Muina v. Hood</u>, 516 So.2d 1117 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); <u>Zerby v. Edwards</u>, 579 So.2d 914 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991); <u>Fisher v. Knuck</u>, 497 So.2d 240 (Fla. 1986); <u>Walton v. State</u>, 481 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1985); <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 599 So.2d 103 (Fla. 1992). While a judge cannot rule on the truth of any accusation of bias, a judge may deny a motion for recusal when said motion fails to set forth any legitimate basis for recusal.

Returning to the case at bar, Judge Turner "probated" the Sims estate. Steinhorst has failed to produce any probate files, so the extent of (attorney) Turner's efforts and any fee arrangements attending said probate are completely unknown. This deficiency is critical, since:

(1) There is no evidence of any "wrongful death" or similar tort action by the Sims estate against either Steinhorst or Hughes.

(2) The mere filing of estate papers, payment of last expenses, etc. common to any probate would not, absent litigation against Hughes or Steinhorst, be affected in any way by the conviction or acquittal of Steinhorst.

(3) Absent some contingent fee agreement, Judge Turner could not have a financial interest in Steinhorst's conviction or acquittal.

(4) Even if potential lawsuits for wrongful death could have been filed against Hughes, as a fugitive, in 1981 (see §95.051, Fla. Stat.). The statute of limitations (for any tort action had expired as to Steinhorst by 1986, if not 1981.

(5) There are no judgments (civil) in evidence against Steinhorst or Hughes, so, again, no pecuniary interests have been established for either Judge Turner or the estate of Mr. Sims.

A survey of the relevant caselaw clearly shows that Judge Turner's mere exposure to the Sims probate would not suffice to disqualify him from the Rule 3.850 proceeding.

³ We can speculate that recusal from the Hughes case in 1981 was predicated upon potential litigation by the estate. That situation did not exist in this case. There is no evidence that suits were ever filed against Steinhorst or Hughes.

In <u>Dowda v. Salfi</u>, 455 So.2d 604 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), the trial judge was not disqualified despite being the defendant in certain civil rights cases filed against him by the defendant. Despite the adversary relationship between the judge and the defendant, the appellate court deemed the civil rights litigation tactical (designed to remove the judge by creating conflict) and thus refused to compel the judge's recusal.

In Lowe v. State, 468 So.2d 259 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985), the court refused to disqualify a judge despite the fact that the judge had initiated contempt proceedings against counsel for the petitioner. At the other end of the spectrum, a trial judge who praised the efforts of a defense attorney was not thereafter disqualified from considering a post-conviction challenge to the competence of counsel in Jones v. State, 446 So.2d 1059 (Fla. 1984).

In <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 599 So.2d 103 (Fla. 1992), this Court held that the trial judge was not disqualified despite the fact that this was Jackson's fourth trial and that in all prior trials, the trial judge had sentenced Jackson to death. The mere prior exposure of the judge to the evidence, even when combined with his judgments, did not create a legally sufficient claim of bias. <u>See</u>, <u>Gilliam v. State</u>, 582 So.2d 610 (Fla. 1991); Dragovich v. State, 492 So.2d 350 (Fla. 1986).

In <u>Walton v. State</u>, 481 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1985), the trial judge was not disqualified despite his having presided over the trial of a co-defendant whose theory of defense implicated Walton.

- 11 -

If disqualification was not required in the presence of asserted "direct conflict", it was even less likely to be compelled where the judge's alleged "bias" was even less "direct." For example, in <u>Muina v. Hood</u>, 516 So.2d 1117 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), the court found no basis for disqualification of a judge who had ruled against the appellant in an earlier case and was allegedly racially biased.

In Zerby v. Edwards, 579 So.2d 914 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) the appellant, Zerby, was involved in a divorce action before Judge Zerby, a chiropractor, moved for disqualification Edwards. because Zerby had been called as an expert (chiropractic) witness offered cases before Judge Edwards and had in other This "thermographic evidence" which Judge Edwards excluded. litigation history did not establish any bias against Zerby or prove that Judge Edwards would not find Zerby credible.

In <u>Kitti v. Dept. of H.R.S.</u>, 527 So.2d 230 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), the mere fact that the trial judge had conducted other dependency proceedings involving the same child did not compel his disqualification.

By any measure of common sense, if a judge cannot be compelled to disqualify himself under the circumstances described in these cases, the facts at bar cannot possibly compel recusal. Judge Turner had never presided over any other case involving Steinhorst. Judge Turner had never before addressed, or even seen, evidence implicating Steinhorst. Judge Turner never held Steinhorst or his various lawyers in contempt or expressed any conceivably "biased" opinions. All Judge Turner ever did was, as a lawyer, a decade earlier, probate an estate. Any claim of bias is clearly insufficient on its face.

- 12 -

(B) The Order Denying Rule 3.850 Relief Is Not "Void"

Steinhorst's argument that Judge Turner's order is "void" is based upon the claim of "blatant" judicial bias. Adjectives and invectives are not evidence and, no matter how Mr. Steinhorst characterizes the court, the fact remains that Steinhorst's overstated claim is not supported by any evidence whatsoever. This deficiency renders the "void-voidable order" issue moot, but for the record this issue will be discussed.

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